STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAR 26 2014

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge

Case No. 08-ALC-07-0221-CC  
Appellate Case No. 2009-135686

Deerfield Plantation Phase IIB Property Owners Association ..... Appellant,

vs.

South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control,  
Deertrack Golf, Inc., and Bill Clark Homes of Myrtle Beach, LLC ..... Respondents,

vs.

Bill Clark Homes of Myrtle Beach, LLC ..... Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Amy E. Armstrong  
Michael Corley  
SOUTH CAROLINA ENVIRONMENTAL LAW  
PROJECT

Mailing address: Post Office Box 1380

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. **Did the ALJ err in ignoring and effectively repealing a valid regulatory requirement on the basis of a purported regulatory conflict, where the ALJ made no effort to reconcile the regulations, where the ALJ did not point to an identifiable conflict in regulatory language, and where the ALJ ignored testimony from the regulatory agency that the requirements could be applied together?**
  
- II. **Where it was possible for Deertrack Golf's proposed project to comply with all regulatory requirements, did the ALJ's rejection of one of those requirements on the basis of a purported regulatory conflict simply effectuate his preference for one regulation over another?**
  
- III. **Did the ALJ err by correcting DHEC's failure to identify existing ponds on the property as "waters of the State," but then ignoring the regulatory standards and requirements specifically applicable to those waters?**
  
- IV. **Where "waters of the State" will be impacted by the proposed project, but neither DHEC nor the ALJ has made findings on whether those impacts are in compliance with the applicable regulations, is remand required?**
  
- V. **Where the Permit at issue in this case was conditioned on the fact that no federal waters were present on the project site, and where the ALJ refused to admit any evidence of the presence of federal waters, finding the lack of federal waters conclusively established, does a federal agency's subsequent finding of federal waters on the property necessitate reversal of the ALJ's Final Order and remand of the Permit?**
  
- VI. **In light of the subsequent finding of federal waters, would affirming the ALJ's Final Order clear the way for Deertrack Golf to begin construction of a project that no longer has a valid Permit?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 29, 2008, the Petitioner-Appellant (hereinafter, "Appellant") Deerfield Plantation Phase IIB Property Owners Association ("Phase IIB POA") filed a contested case hearing seeking review of the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control's ("DHEC") decision to grant a Stormwater Permit and Coastal Zone Consistency Certification to Deertrack Golf, Inc. ("Deertrack Golf"). The permit and certification at issue approve the development plan for a 287-unit residential subdivision on a tract of land in the Surfside Beach area of Horry County, South Carolina.

The development tract, which formerly served as a golf course, contains a series of ponds, channels, and ditches. The development plan that has been permitted and certified by DHEC calls for filling the majority of the ponds, ditches, and channels on the tract and for utilizing some of the ponds for stormwater detention. The Appellant contends that the project does not satisfy a number of the regulatory preconditions underlying the Stormwater Permit, including S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 61-9, S.C. Code Ann. Reg. 61-68, and the NPDES General Permit for Stormwater Discharges. Respondent Deertrack Golf asserts that the project complies with the applicable standards.<sup>1</sup>

A hearing was conducted before the Administrative Law Judge March 10-12, 2009 at the Administrative Law Court in Columbia. The parties submitted proposed orders to the Court, and on June 9, 2009, the ALJ issued a Final Order and Decision ("Final Order"), affirming DHEC's issuance of the Stormwater Permit and Coastal Zone Consistency Certification. The Appellant

---

<sup>1</sup>Respondent Bill Clark Homes, who previously intervened in this action, no longer has a contractual interest in the development tract and is not participating in this action.

filed a Motion for New Trial and to Alter or Amend in the Administrative Law Court on June 22, 2009. Pursuant to Rule 29(d) of the Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Law Court, that motion was deemed denied when no order was filed by Judge McLeod, the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) within 30 days of the filing. The Appellant filed its notice of appeal in this case on July 29, 2009.

Subsequent to the filing of this appeal, the United States Corps of Engineers declared federal jurisdiction over a portion of the waters on the development tract, based on a Clean Water Act suit filed by the Appellant. Given the potential implications of that declaration on these proceedings, this Court has separately stayed, held in abeyance, and remanded this appeal over the last several years. On July 9, 2010, this Court ordered the appeal held in abeyance for 60 days. On October 6, 2010, this Court stayed the appeal upon joint motion of the parties. Most recently, on January 12, 2012, this Court remanded the case “to the ALC to further remand the matter to DHEC for additional administrative action.” On May 17, 2013, with no additional administrative action having occurred, this Court dismissed the appeal. Upon Petitions for Rehearing filed by the Respondents, this Court reinstated the appeal on September 20, 2013.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **Summary of Argument**

This appeal centers around Deertrack Golf’s proposal to construct a new stormwater management system overtop an existing drainage network composed of ponds, channels and other waters. The Appellant will demonstrate through this appeal that the ALJ made legal errors both in his interpretation of the requirements for the new stormwater system and in his treatment

of the existing waters. Beyond these legal errors, the Appellant will explain how a subsequent declaration of federal jurisdiction, now on record with the ALJ and this Court, invalidates the Stormwater Permit for Deertrack Golf's proposal and necessitates reversal and remand.

As for the first error, in applying South Carolina's stormwater regulations to Deertrack Golf's proposed stormwater project, the ALJ incorrectly contorted those regulations to justify his preferred outcome. In particular, the ALJ generated a poorly described, purported conflict between stormwater regulations in order to justify his decision not to apply one of those regulations. The Appellant will explain that no conflict actually exists between these stormwater regulations, which are routinely applied in concert, and that even if such a conflict did exist, the ALJ applied an improper legal analysis in simply rejecting the regulation he deemed to be more broad. This legal error requires reversal.

The second error relates to the status of the existing ponds and channels as "waters of the State," a term defined in Respondent DHEC's regulations that connotes additional protections for those waters. DHEC testified that it did not consider the existing ponds and channels to be "waters of the State," but that if they were, a different permit review with different requirements would have been necessary. The ALJ, in contrast, held that the ponds and channels were "waters of the State," but then completely ignored the implications of that holding. In short, the ALJ's Order attempts to have it both ways, correcting an obvious error on the part of DHEC in applying the plain terms of a regulatory definition, while at the same avoiding the consequences of that error to affirm DHEC's permit as-is. The ALJ's Order requires remand for a consistent holding on "waters of the State" and for application of the legal standards and requirements applicable thereto.

Finally, this case has already once been remanded to the ALJ and then to DHEC for action on the basis of subsequently-declared federal jurisdiction over a portion of the existing waters on the property. In the end, no action was taken by DHEC during the remand and this appeal was *sua sponte* reinstated. The Appellant will explain that, more than the temporary remand this Court previously granted, the declaration of federal jurisdiction invalidates the ALJ's Final Order and DHEC's Stormwater Permit, necessitating reversal. Where the ALJ refused to admit any trial evidence on the existence of federally jurisdictional waters and based his Order on the conclusion that no such waters exist, and where federal jurisdiction eviscerates necessary preconditions for the Stormwater Permit, this Court has no legal footing from which to affirm the Order and Permit.

### **Factual Background**

Respondent Deertrack Golf applied to Respondent DHEC for a Stormwater Permit and Coastal Zone Consistency Certification ("CZC Certification" or "Certification") to construct a 287-unit residential subdivision on a 85-acre tract of land in the Surfside Beach area of Horry County. (R. p. 10, ¶ 6). Specifically, Deertrack Golf proposes to construct the subdivision within Deerfield Plantation, a large, multi-phase developed community near Surfside. The new subdivision would be built on a parcel that formerly served as the "front nine" holes of the southern Deerfield Plantation golf course ("the Old South Course"). Deertrack Golf is the owner of the Old South Course property and made the decision to close the course to golf and to pursue residential development. (R. p. 6). DHEC issued the Permit and consistency Certification for this

development in February 2008.<sup>2</sup> (R. p. 6).

Development of Deerfield Plantation began in the late 1970s. Deerfield Plantation was developed as a golf course community, with two golf courses surrounded by residential lots and townhouses. Deerfield Plantation Phase IIB (“Phase IIB”) encompasses a section of those golf course community lots. (R. pp. 107-108). Specifically, Phase IIB is a single-family residential community within Deerfield Plantation that was platted and recorded in 1978. (R. p. 9, ¶ 2). All homeowners in Phase IIB are members of the Appellant group Deerfield Plantation Phase IIB Property Owners Association, and Phase IIB POA represents the interests of those homeowners. Phase IIB was built surrounding and intertwined with the front nine holes of the Old South Course. (R. p. 6). Consequently, the proposed residential development will be constructed among, around, and adjacent to lots within Phase IIB.

Critical to this case, a drainage system consisting of interconnected ponds, channels, swales, and underground pipes runs through the Old South Course, including the portion adjacent to Phase IIB. (R. p. 124-141). Phase IIB was constructed so that almost all of its residential lots drain toward and through that golf course drainage system. Id. The ponds and channels on the Old South Course are linked together and ultimately drain to a single exit point on the eastern edge of the property, and then to the Atlantic Ocean. (R. pp. 289-290, 300). In short, under the existing configuration, Phase IIB’s stormwater drainage crosses the Old South Course property, and Phase IIB cannot drain without utilizing the drainage system on the golf course property. (R. p. 140-141).

---

<sup>2</sup>The arguments in this brief relate primarily to the content and validity of the Stormwater Permit, but reversal or modification of that Permit will necessarily require a new CZC Certification. See S.C. Code Ann. § 48-39-80(B)(11).

The development plan submitted by Deertrack Golf and approved by DHEC calls for an almost complete reworking of the drainage system on the Old South Golf Course – the system relied on by Phase IIB POA. (R. pp. 27-30). Of particular relevance here, the development plan calls for the permanent alteration of nearly every pond, channel and ditch on the site, including the filling of some of these areas. Further, the development plan calls for raising the elevation of the golf course property to establish new residential lots. In fact, just about everything to be built in the proposed new development would be at a higher elevation than the houses it would surround in Phase IIB. (R. pp. 342-343). Some Phase IIB POA homes would sit as much as four feet below adjacent lots in the new development. (R. p. 411; p. 30, ¶ 75). In short, the plan approved by DHEC constitutes a major modification of the drainage system and mechanisms directly utilized by Phase IIB POA for decades and has the potential to significantly impact Phase IIB POA.

These proposed drainage modifications are particularly critical to Phase IIB POA in light of its problematic drainage history. Phase IIB was built before the advent of modern stormwater regulations and generally with little regard to drainage. (R. p. 23, ¶ 51). As a result, both Phase IIB and the Old South Course were built in flat, low-lying areas naturally prone to flooding. (R. pp. 315-316). The precarious location of Phase IIB makes proper management of its stormwater imperative.

Indeed, the Old South Course and Phase IIB have historically experienced a significant flooding problem. (R. pp. 298, 304-307). Phase IIB POA presented the testimony of three homeowners/members who testified about past flooding events and their continuing concern about future flooding events. At least a dozen flooding events were described. Each noted a

history of major floods, which resulted in road closings and as much as 3-4 feet of water entering some homes. (R. pp. 154, 326-327). The members of Phase IIB POA testified that their objections to this proposed development were not to redevelopment of the golf course property in itself, but rather to the manner that redevelopment was proposed in relation to flooding. (R. p. 218-221). In short, the members of Phase IIB POA expressed concerned that entirely reworking the drainage system to add more houses at an elevation four feet higher than phase IIB homes will exacerbate flooding Phase IIB.

Admittedly, since the height of the flooding problem, Horry County has committed significant resources to alleviating Phase IIB POA's drainage problem through offsite infrastructure changes. (R. pp. 23-26). The ALJ heard a great deal of testimony from both sides about the effectiveness of these changes, and there was disagreement among witnesses on the extent to which the flooding problem had been cured. The ALJ resolved this factual disagreement in favor of the Respondents, concluding that Horry County's drainage improvements were working as intended. (R. p. 34, ¶81). Similarly, the ALJ heard a great deal of testimony from both sides about the impact the new development (and its new stormwater system) would have on flooding in Phase IIB. Again, there was disagreement among the witnesses on the extent to which the new development would contribute to Phase IIB POA's flooding, and, again, the ALJ resolved this factual disagreement in favor of the Respondents, concluding that flooding in Phase IIB would not be exacerbated by the new development. To be clear, Phase IIB POA is not asking this Court to disturb the ALJ's conclusions on flooding in Phase IIB.

While the issue occupied a great deal of testimony at trial, the likelihood and extent of flooding in Phase IIB is not a question presented in this appeal. Rather, this appeal focuses on

discrete legal determinations and preconditions and does not challenge the ALJ's weighing of witness testimony to conclude that historical flooding problems in Phase IIB have been alleviated. While Phase IIB POA does not agree with the ALJ's findings on these points, its history of, and concern for, flooding is only raised here so as to give context for the Appellant's involvement in this case.

### ***Regulatory and Permitting Background***

Stormwater is regulated on both a state and federal level. The basic function of stormwater regulation is to ensure control of stormwater runoff that is generated when precipitation from storms flows over land and impervious surfaces, picking up and transporting pollutants and sediment. Uncontrolled or untreated stormwater runoff can cause significant adverse impacts downstream by both increasing the quantity of water being released offsite and impacting downstream water quality through the transportation of common pollutants found in stormwater runoff. The quantity and quality of stormwater runoff is necessarily tied to development. At the most basic level, more development means more impervious surfaces, which yields more stormwater runoff with higher concentrations of pollutants.

Stormwater runoff from construction sites is particularly problematic, as construction activities significantly increase the chances that stormwater runoff will accumulate pollutants. As stormwater flows over the disturbed ground of a construction site, it can pick up pollutants like sediment, debris, and chemicals and transport these to a nearby river, lake, or coastal waterway.

For purposes of this appeal, it is important to distinguish between temporary stormwater tools used on a construction site and the permanent stormwater drainage system that accompanies

a development. On a construction site, temporary “BMPs” are used, mostly for the purpose of limiting the amount of sediment eroding from the unsettled, “disturbed” site. For instance, a developer may erect a silt fence to prevent sedimented runoff from escaping into a nearby creek. Once construction is complete, these temporary BMPs (tools, basically) are removed. In contrast, developments today are also required to have a permanent stormwater/drainage management system, which usually consists of fixed landscape features like detention ponds, underground detention systems, storm water wetlands and bioretention areas. These features are permanently maintained to control the volume and quality of stormwater runoff leaving a developed area.

South Carolina has regulatory programs in place to minimize and manage the stormwater runoff from both construction sites and new developments. When Deertrack Golf proposed a 287-home development by way of an 85-acre construction site, it triggered these regulatory programs and the necessity of a Stormwater Permit.

Because of the way that stormwater law has developed, three sets of regulations come into play under a single “Stormwater Permit.” The minutiae of these complementary regulatory frameworks are of limited relevance to this appeal. Rather, at the outset, the most important thing to note is that the ALJ considered all three sets of regulations in relation to this proposed development. (See, e.g., R. pp. 19-21). In other words, there is no question that this project implicates all three sets of stormwater-related regulations: R.61-9, R.61-68, and R.72-300 *et seq.* As will be discussed later, the question is whether the ALJ erred in favoring one regulation over another.

The regulations embodied in R.72-300 *et seq* state a stormwater permit requirement as follows: unless exempted, “a person may not undertake a land disturbing activity without an

approved stormwater management and sediment control plan.” R.72-305(A). In other words, all (non-exempt) development construction sites must have a permitted plan for handling stormwater. Naturally, the larger the construction site, the more demanding the stormwater management requirements. See R.72-305(B). These regulations contain requirements for temporary stormwater management on a construction site (See R.73-307(B)) and for a permanent stormwater system (See R.73-307(C)). Just the same, the regulations embodied in R.61-9 state a stormwater permit requirement for development construction sites and contain additional stormwater management requirements. See R.61-9.122.26.

Rather than issuing separate stormwater permits under R.72-300 *et seq* and R.61-9, compliance under the interrelated stormwater requirements is accomplished in one permitting action. Most often, rather than issuing an individually crafted permit, DHEC grants coverage under a general permit it has crafted: the “NPDES General Permit for Stormwater Discharges from Large and Small Construction Activities.” DHEC granted Deertrack Golf coverage under this general permit in this case. In other words, Deertrack Golf’s “Stormwater Permit” at issue in this case is actually coverage under a general stormwater permit. This distinction makes no practical difference.

Having covered R.72-300 and R.61-9, the final stormwater-related regulation considered by the ALJ in this case is R.61-68, the State Water Classifications and Standards. This regulation establishes classifications for our State’s waters and establishes standards to protect and maintain those classifications. While R.61-68 is more than a stormwater regulation, the standards in R.61-68 underlie and dictate the stormwater treatment requirements imposed under R.72-300 and R.61-9. As R.61-68 states in its very first words, its Preamble: “This regulation also governs the

control of . . . stormwater discharges.”

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