**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE  
COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from the South Carolina Administrative Law Court  
Honorable John D. McLeod, Administrative Law Judge  
Docket No. 2008-ALJ-07-00221  
**Appellate Case No. 2009-135686**

---

RECEIVED

MAR 27 2014

Deerfield Plantation Phase II B  
Property Owners Association,

SC Court of Appeals

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Health and  
Environmental Control, Deertrack Golf, Inc.,

Respondents,

v.

Bill Clark Homes of Myrtle Beach, LLC,

Respondent.

---

**JOINT FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS,  
DEERTRACK GOLF, INC. AND SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT  
OF HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONTROL**

---

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

The term “Best Management Practices” or “BMP”, as it relates to stormwater management are defined in S.C. Code Reg. § 72-301(5) as “a wide range of management procedures, schedules of activities, prohibitions on practices and other management practices which have been demonstrated to effectively control the quality and/or quantity of stormwater runoff and which are compatible with the planned land use.”<sup>22</sup> One such BMP is the use of detention structures, defined as “a permanent stormwater management structure whose primary purpose is to temporarily store stormwater runoff and release the stored runoff at controlled rates.”<sup>23</sup>

It is clear from the pretreatment requirement in S.C. Code Reg. § 61-68(E), “[t]he Department [SCDHEC] may require best management practices (BMPs) for control of stormwater runoff,”<sup>24</sup> that a constructed stormwater pond provides pretreatment. It is illogical to interpret this same regulation as requiring pretreatment of stormwater before that same stormwater is discharged into a constructed stormwater pond.

---

<sup>21</sup> See S. C. Code Reg. § 61-68(E)(4)(a) (Thomson Reuters West 2010) (Emphasis added).

<sup>22</sup> S.C. Code Reg. § 72-301(5) (Thomson Reuters West 2010).

<sup>23</sup> S.C. Code Reg. § 72-301(11) (Thomson Reuters West 2010).

<sup>24</sup> S. C. Code Reg. § 61-68(E)(4)(a).

The ALC correctly reconciled the breadth of the definition of “waters of the State” with the requirements for stormwater management and the use of BMPs to control the quality and quantity of stormwater as it flows downstream. South Carolina’s stormwater management requirements were codified in 1991 with the adoption of the South Carolina Stormwater Management and Sediment Reduction Act,<sup>25</sup> which includes the definitions of “detention structure” and “Best Management Practices,” which were adopted in accordance therewith. Both Deertrack Golf and SCDHEC believe that the general rules applicable to all waters embodied in S.C. Code Reg. § 61-68(E) were promulgated prior to S.C. Code Reg. § 72-300. Nevertheless, S.C. Code Reg. § 72-300 applies specifically to stormwater management and authorizes the use of constructed ponds to control stormwater flows.<sup>26</sup> As the lower court found “[i]t is well settled that a specific statute controls over a more general one.” (R.p.37, para. 4).<sup>27</sup> And this Court of Appeals cannot overlook the fact that the rule upon which Deerfield Plantation POA relies to claim that the stormwater ponds require pretreatment contains an express statement authorizing the use of BMPs for the control of stormwater runoff.<sup>28</sup> Detention ponds, also commonly referred to as

---

<sup>25</sup> See S.C. Code Reg. §§ 72-300, et seq. (Thomson Reuters West 2010).

<sup>26</sup> See generally S.C. Code Reg. § 72- 305(B)(5) (Thomson Reuters West 2010); S.C. Code Reg. § 72- 307(C)(5) (Thomson Reuters West 2010).

<sup>27</sup> See e.g., Capco of Summerville, Inc. v. J.H. Gayle Const. Co., Inc., 368 S.C. 137, 628 S.E.2d 38 (2006).

<sup>28</sup> S.C. Code Reg. § 61-68(E)(4).

stormwater ponds, are clearly the most commonly used stormwater BMP. A declaration that a stormwater pond can't receive stormwater flows without pretreatment ignores the important underlying function of these constructed ponds.

C. **Deerfield Plantation POA Is Barred From Raising Issues To This Court Of Appeals Which Were Not Litigated Before The Administrative Law Court.**

Deerfield Plantation POA claims that the authorization to discharge stormwater under the *NPDES General Permit for Storm Water Discharges from Large and Small Construction Activities* ("the 2006 GP") (R.pp.479-531) issued to Deertrack has been eliminated. Deerfield Plantation POA states such authority was "eviscerated" by the Army Corps of Engineers' findings in the 2010 JD that 0.37 acres of drainage ditches constituted a "jurisdictional connection" and was subject to Army Corps of Engineers' regulations under the *Clean Water Act*.

While Deerfield Plantation POA raised the issue before the ALC as to whether there were wetlands or "waters of the United States" located on the South Course which had not been identified by either Deertrack Golf or SCDHEC, Deerfield Plantation POA never claimed that the permit coverage would be terminated and/or eviscerated by the Army Corps of Engineers' subsequent assertion of jurisdiction. Moreover, the 2010 JD was issued several months after the ALC issued its *Final Order and Decision* in this case.<sup>29</sup> Without

---

<sup>29</sup> Compare *Deerfield Plantation Phase II B Prop. Owners Assn. v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Env'tl. Control*, 2009 WL 8167909 (ALC decision issued 9 June 2009), with *Deerfield Plantation Phase II B Prop. Owners Assn v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Chas. Div.*, 801 F.Supp.2d 446, 454 (noting the 2010 JD was issued on 10 March 2010).

any argument, and particularly in light of the finding that Deerfield Plantation POA failed to “carry their burden of proof as to the existence of any wetlands on the project site” (R.p.17, para. 30), the ALC did not render any ruling on how the 2006 GP coverage might be affected by any subsequent assertion by the Army Corps of Engineers of a type of “jurisdictional connection”.

It is well-settled that “[a]s a general rule, an issue may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”<sup>30</sup> Furthermore, “[i]ssues not raised in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.”<sup>31</sup> Additionally, matters not argued to or ruled on by the trial court are not preserved for review.<sup>32</sup>

Because Deerfield Plantation POA’s arguments before the ALC focused only upon whether the initial wetlands determination was properly made, and because the 2010 JD occurred after issuance and appeal of the ALC’s Final Order and Decision, Deerfield Plantation POA failed to properly preserve the question of whether permit coverage under the 2006 GP could be affected by a subsequent determination of jurisdiction by the Army Corps of Engineers for consideration in this appeal.<sup>33</sup>

---

<sup>30</sup> See State v. Moss, 2007 WL 8324390, \*3 (Ct.App., filed 17 January 2007) (Not reported in S.E.2d).

<sup>31</sup> Doe v. S.B.M., 327 S.C. 352, 356, 488 S.E.2d 878, 881 (Ct.App. 1997).

<sup>32</sup> See Brown v. S. C. Dept. of Health and Env'tl. Control, 348 S.C. 507, 519, 560 S.E.2d 410, 417 (2002).

<sup>33</sup> Nevertheless, since Deerfield Plantation POA devoted a significant portion of its appellate brief to this unpreserved argument, Deertrack Golf and SCDHEC have addressed that unpreserved argument herein below.

D. **The Corps Of Engineers' 2010 Conclusions Regarding The Extent Of Federally Jurisdictional Waters Located On The South Course, Does Not Invalidate The Permit At Issue In This Appeal.**

Deerfield Plantation POA argued in the ALC that the South Course contained “jurisdictional” areas which had not been identified to SCDHEC during the permit process. Contrary to Deerfield Plantation POA’s position, the testimony and evidence supporting this assertion was focused not on any “jurisdictional” issue, but, instead, solely on the presence of “wetlands” on the golf course or evidence that portions of the South Course had been constructed in “wetlands.” (R.p.288, lines 2-5). As is evident from the Rapanos Guidance,<sup>34</sup> jurisdiction under the Clean Water Act extends to navigable waters, non-navigable tributaries, and wetlands. After hearing all the evidence, the ALC ruled that Deerfield Plantation POA failed to sustain their burden on this issue (R.p.40, para. 8), finding the testimony of Deerfield Plantation POA’s expert non-persuasive. (R.pp.40-41, para. 9). And, when the Army Corps of Engineers performed a second review of the South Course’s system of ponds and ditches, none of the areas that Deerfield Plantation POA’s expert considered to be potentially jurisdictional were identified as such by the Army Corps of Engineers.<sup>35</sup> As noted by the Fourth Circuit, the Army Corps of Engineers holds

---

<sup>34</sup> See generally Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715 (2006). See also Memorandum from the Army Corps of Engineers and the United States Environmental Protection Agency entitled “Clean Water Act Jurisdiction Following the U.S. Supreme Court’s Decision[s] in Rapanos v. United States and Carabell v. United States”.

<sup>35</sup> See generally Deerfield Plantation Phase II B Prop. Owners Assn v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Chas. Div., 801 F.Supp.2d 446, affirmed, 501 Fed.Appx. 268 (2012 WL 6685770).

the authority to “issue formal determinations concerning the applicability of the Clean Water Act” to “tracts of land.”<sup>36</sup> The Army Corps of Engineers may decide whether a tract of land is subject to the agency’s regulatory jurisdiction under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act.

The Army Corps of Engineers’ limited assertion of jurisdiction over only 0.37 acres, or 920.07 linear feet, comprises 0.4% (4/10ths of 1%) of the total area that was reconsidered by the Army Corps of Engineers.<sup>37</sup> And the relatively permanent waters that were determined to be jurisdictional were functioning drainage ditches before the 2010 JD, are functioning drainage ditches currently, and will continue to facilitate drainage with the redevelopment of the South Course. These ditches are “the primary outfall channel” that has functioned to convey runoff from the property across Glens Bay Road, under U.S. Route 17 Business, through the Town of Surfside, and into the Atlantic Ocean. (R.p.616). Mr. Yelinko identified the area as an “outlet box.” (R.p.553).

Deertrack Golf’s NOI (R.pp.475-478), which served as the application form for coverage under the 2006 GP (R.pp.479-531), included a section specifically seeking information regarding the existence of wetlands or federally jurisdictional

---

<sup>36</sup> Deerfield Plantation Phase II B Prop. Owners Assn v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Chas. Div., 501 Fed.Appx. 268, 270 (2012 WL 6685770, \* 1) (citing 33 C.F.R. § 320.1(a)(6)).

<sup>37</sup> See Deerfield Plantation Phase II B Prop. Owners Assn v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Chas. Div., 801 F.Supp.2d 446, 454; Deerfield Plantation Phase II B Prop. Owners Assn v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Chas. Div., 501 Fed.Appx. 268, 271 (2012 WL 6685770, \*2).

areas on the South Course. (R.p.475, Section IV). Based on the 2006 JD, Deertrack Golf confirmed the lack of any wetlands or jurisdictional waters and indicated “no” on the NOI. (R.p.475, Section IV).

Deerfield Plantation POA’s argument regarding “evisceration” hinges solely on the assertion that the 2010 JD invalidates the authorization of permit coverage under the terms and conditions of the 2006 GP. (R.pp.479-531). Deerfield Plantation POA apparently has not read the 2006 GP. (R.pp.479-531). Section 2.1(C) of the 2006 GP provides that “[i]f a US Army Corps of Engineers’ 404 Permit is required by Section 404 of the [Clean Water Act] for permanent or temporary storm water control structures, DHEC may not grant you coverage under the CGP until the 404 permit has been issued and is effective.” (R.p.485). Notwithstanding this prohibition, the 2006 GP also provides in Section 2.1(C)(1) that “where the 404 Permit decision will not affect the implementation of the SWPPP [*i.e.*; stormwater pollution prevention plan] the Department [SCDHEC] will issue approval of the SWPPP and grant coverage under this permit before the 404 Permit decision is effective.” (R.p.486). Furthermore, pursuant to Section 2.1(C)(2), in situations “where the 404 Permit decision will affect only a portion of the ‘Project Area’ the Department [SCDHEC] may grant the unaffected portion of the ‘Project Area’ coverage under this permit [and the] remaining portion of the ‘Project Area’ will be considered after the 404 Permit is issued and effective.” (R.p.486).

Certainly this case constitutes a permissible circumstance for granting permitting coverage. First, in light of the 2006 JD finding of no wetlands or “waters of the State” on the property at the time of application for the permit, there was no need for a 404 Permit inquiry. Second, even if the 2010 JD is interpreted to give rise to a need for the 404 Permit inquiry, it must be agreed that only a portion of the property –in this case, only a very minor portion (0.37 acres out of the total 84.96 acres of the property) - could be affected by any 404 Permit decision. There is no reason for a blanket conclusion that the absence of a 404 Permit should effect eligibility for coverage under the 2006 GP or “eviscerate” it as Deerfield Plantation POA has argued in this case.

It also must be realized that Deertrack Golf will likely have to submit to an additional approval or updating process at the conclusion of this appeal because the 2006 GP expired and, on 15 October 2012 (the “2012 CGP”), was reissued with additional terms and conditions. According to SCDHEC’s instructions, all coverage approvals under the 2006 GP must be revised to meet applicable permit requirements within the 2012 CGP.

On the other hand, as this issue relates to whether the identification of federally jurisdictional waters on the South Course triggers any additional permitting requirements, the terms and conditions set forth in the 2012 CGP are identical to those contained in Section 2.1(C) of the 2006 GP. Neither the 2006 GP nor the 2012 CGP demand the issuance of an effective 404 Permit as a

mandatory prerequisite and/or precondition in all circumstances. Though a 404 Permit may sometimes be required, the 2010 JD herein, contrary to the Deerfield Plantation POA's arguments, simply does not have the effect of "eviscerating" permit coverage under the 2006 GP.

As to the arguments raised by Deerfield Plantation POA in the subsection titled "DHEC has Acknowledged that Additional Action is Necessary but has Declined to Voluntarily Take that Action," the arguments raised in the SCDHEC's *Memorandum in Support of Petition for Rehearing* received by this Court of Appeals on 27 August 2013, are incorporated herein.

## V. CONCLUSION

Deerfield Plantation POA has abandoned several issues which it raised before the ALC. Deerfield Plantation POA's six issues on appeal can be distilled down to two questions:

- (a) Whether the ALC conclusions that the ponds on the South Course are stormwater ponds and whether the ALC's legal conclusions regarding the standards applicable to stormwater ponds were supported by the law and the evidence?

*and*

- (b) Whether the 2010 JD had the effect of divesting Deertrack Golf of permit coverage?

In applying S. C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B), this Court of Appeals has held that "[a]s to factual issues, judicial review of administrative agency orders is limited to a determination [of] whether the order is supported by substantial evidence."<sup>38</sup> Moreover, "[s]ubstantial evidence sufficient to support a finding of

---

<sup>38</sup> Greeneagle, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Envtl. Control, 399 S.C. 91, 95, 730 S.E.2d 869, 871 (Ct.App. 2012) (Second alteration in original).

the ALC is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that the administrative agency reached.”<sup>39</sup> There is substantial evidence and, in turn, a serious lack of contradictory evidence, to support the conclusion that the ponds on the South Course are stormwater ponds.

The ALC correctly determined that constructed stormwater ponds are exempt from the pre-treatment requirements of S. C. Code Reg. § 61-68(E)(4) since any other conclusion is illogical and ignores the important function of detention structures in controlling stormwater flows and water quality. Ms. Hicks assessment on behalf of DHEC was correct – the ponds were stormwater ponds and not subject to the pretreatment requirement in S. C. Code Reg. § 61-68(E)(4).

Finally, Deerfield Plantation POA cannot seek relief from this Court of Appeals on issues that were not raised below to the ALC. The impact of the 2010 JD on Deertrack Golf’s ability to proceed with development was not presented to the ALC and, therefore, is not properly before this Court of Appeals. If the 2010 JD has any impact on Deertrack Golf’s ability to proceed with the planned redevelopment, such impact will be minimal based on the fact that the areas declared federally jurisdictional constitute only **0.4% (4/10ths of 1%) of the 85 acres** that are the subject of the development plan

---

<sup>39</sup> Greeneagle, Inc. v. S.C. Dept. of Health and Env’tl. Control, 399 S.C. 91, 95, 730 S.E.2d 869, 871.